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“They appear to have a keen eye for their own interests, and should they 
finally decide on emigration (which I very much doubt) [they] will be 
governed in the selection of their future home by the advantages which 
may be offered to them.” —Lord Augustus Loftus, British ambassador to 
Russia, August 18, 18722 

Between 1873 and 1880, 17,075 Mennonites, one-third of the total 
Mennonite population in imperial Russia, left for North America. Of 
these emigrants, 10,135 would immigrate to the United States of 
America while 6,940 immigrated to Canada.3 What caused these 
Mennonites to emigrate? Why did the majority stay? Why did a mi-
nority of emigrants choose Canada while the bulk of emigrants se-
lected the United States? These decisions were not made in haste. 
Rather, they were the product of extensive deliberation and negoti-
ation. 

This article analyzes the negotiations behind the 1870s Mennon-
ite migration to North America. Past scholarship has generally 
taken a state-centric approach to the question why some Mennonites 
chose Canada over the United States and vice versa.4 Some authors 
also looked unflatteringly on those who chose to emigrate.5 This ar-
ticle examines the interactions as a whole: as complex, 
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international, multilateral negotiations between the Russian Em-
pire, the United States, the British Empire, including the new Do-
minion of Canada, and different groups of Mennonites. These nego-
tiations were conducted between states seeking to advance their 
own agendas, and Mennonites seeking religious freedoms and/or 
economic opportunity. 

Previous studies have overlooked the international aspect and in-
terconnectedness of the negotiations. Understanding the migration 
requires each state and Mennonite group to be considered in tan-
dem, rather than in isolation. No negotiation occurred in a vacuum. 
The inducements offered by one state were influenced by those of-
fered by another, and by each state’s own unique pressures. While 
Canada offered the most generous inducements, this was in the con-
text of direct competition with the United States. The United States 
considered Canada’s inducements while offering its own. For Rus-
sia, a last-minute compromise came only after Canada and the 
United States threatened to draw away some of its most industrious 
colonists.6 

In the end, Mennonites managed to successfully leverage all 
three host states against each other to satisfy their varied interests. 
Despite, or perhaps because of, their own internal divisions, Men-
nonites showed adept negotiation skills. While Mennonites have of-
ten positioned themselves as “the quiet in the land,” they actually 
demonstrated, as Lord Loftus observed, “a keen eye for their own 
interests” in a complex international negotiation.7 

The Impetus for Negotiation: Russian Reforms, American 
Manifest Destiny, and Canadian Anxieties 

Mennonites settled in the Vistula Delta beginning in the six-
teenth century seeking greater religious tolerance. Gradually they 
acquired special rights, at first from local authorities and then from 
Polish kings, spelled out in a charter, or Privilegium. Following the 
first two partitions of Poland of 1772 and 1793, these Mennonites 
came under Prussian rule and faced increasing militarism and re-
strictions on land acquisition. Consequently, large numbers mi-
grated to Russia, where they established closed colonies with an ex-
emption from military service, pursuant to privileges granted in 
1787 by Catherine the Great and in 1800 by Paul I.8 

In the 1860s, Russia attempted to modernize through what be-
came known as the Great Reforms. Feelings of nationalism and pan-
Slavism led to a policy of “Russification.” Military considerations 
were a factor after Russia’s defeat in the 1853–1856 Crimean War, 
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as were the expanding borders of the German Empire after 1871. 
Despite a decline in international prestige and a need for economic 
modernization, the Russian Empire remained a world power.9 

After the US Civil War ended in 1865, the United States resumed 
its efforts to settle the frontier and fulfill its “manifest destiny” 
across the continent, showing signs of being a nascent power. The 
western United States was relatively developed industrially and had 
a larger population base compared to the Canadian North-West.10 
Private railway companies could engage and seek out immigrants, 
and so it had already been the preeminent destination for migrants 
for several decades. Owing to its superior railway infrastructure, 
more temperate climate, and preferable land, its need to populate 
its frontier was less dire than Canada’s.11 

With colonial possessions around the world, the British Empire 
was the dominant global power in the 1870s. Four of these colonies 
in British North America had achieved a degree of self-government 
and confederated to form the Dominion of Canada in 1867. The Do-
minion was enlarged dramatically in 1870, when it acquired the vast 
territories of Rupert’s Land and the North-Western Territory from 
the Hudson’s Bay Company.  

Despite a legal claim to the new territory, in reality, Canadian 
sovereignty faced serious challenges. Canada’s annexation had been 
preceded by a brief but significant resistance in 1869–1870 led by 
the Métis inhabitants of the Red River Colony. This resulted in the 
creation of the tiny province of Manitoba; the rest of the annexed 
lands became the North-West Territories. Indigenous inhabitants of 
the land paid little heed to Canada’s claim, creating what Métis 
scholar Adam Gaudry labels a “fantasy of sovereignty.”12 Addition-
ally, these newly acquired lands were the subject of interest for 
American annexation.13 Meanwhile, from 1866 to 1871 there was a 
series of raids on Canadian territories by the Irish-American Fenian 
Brotherhood, with the last attempt being a failed incursion into 
Manitoba in 1871.14 In light of these threats, the Dominion sought to 
transform its “paper jurisdiction” into actual authority over the ter-
ritory.15  

Canada consolidated control over the territory sequentially: first 
by signing treaties with First Nations to cede the land, beginning in 
1871; second, by promising a transcontinental railway, also in 1871; 
third, by passing the Dominion Lands Act in 1872 to allow for home-
stead grants; and fourth, by creating the North-West Mounted Police 
in 1873.16 The subsequent task of attracting permanent settlers was 
“not to be left to private business or accident.”17 The Canadian gov-
ernment needed “a sizeable group of capable and permanent 
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settlers”18 who could exist on the Prairies and fully incorporate the 
territory into Canada.  

In the 1870s, Canada was in dire need of new immigrants just as 
Russian Mennonites, facing the loss of their privileges during Rus-
sia’s Great Reforms, started to look outward once more. A new Rus-
sian law dated June 4, 1871 (Old Style [OS]) introduced compulsory, 
universal military service for men beginning in 1874. Further, edu-
cational reforms meant that administration of schools would pass to 
state authorities, with instruction in Russian.19 The reforms pro-
vided the impetus for Mennonites to consider emigrating elsewhere. 
Landlessness was also a likely contributing factor, as 60 percent of 
Mennonite families in the 1860s did not own agricultural land.20 

Negotiations Begin: The Deputations of 1871 

In January 1871, prior to its official announcement, rumours of 
compulsory military service reached the Russian Mennonite popu-
lation owing to a letter from P. D. von Kotzebue, the governor gen-
eral of New Russia-Bessarabia. In February and March, the two ma-
jor Mennonite colonies, Chortitza and Molotschna, sent a deputation 
of six representatives. The deputation travelled to St. Petersburg 
hoping to speak to the tsar but was unsuccessful, instead speaking 
with Kotzebue, several senators, and the body drafting the law, the 
Commission on Terms of Service. Only two deputies could converse 
in Russian. For Russian authorities, this underscored the im-
portance of Russification. Count Heyden informed the deputies that 
they could serve in medical corps instead of combat units. Deputy 
Leonhard Sudermann stated that Mennonites could not serve in a 
medical corps under military administration.21 

While in St. Petersburg, the deputation managed a small success. 
They made a sympathetic friend in Theodor Hans, a pastor of the 
Moravian Brethren. He would act as “an effective intermediary” be-
tween Mennonites and Russian officials over the following years.22 
Following this visit, in September of 1871 a deputation travelled to 
Crimea, seeking a personal audience with the tsar at his summer 
resort. Though this second deputation left petitions for the tsar and 
tsarina, they did not obtain an audience.23 At this juncture, Mennon-
ites had few options and opinion was divided. To stay in Russia 
would mean to compromise their religious beliefs. Emigration was 
one solution, but that would carry its own set of risks and costs. 
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Negotiations Expand: Looking Outward to North America, 1872 

Support for emigration began to grow with the leadership of Cor-
nelius Jansen, a Prussian-born Mennonite who had recently arrived 
in the Russian Empire. Jansen served as Prussian consul in Ber-
dyansk, and had contact with Prussian Mennonites who had emi-
grated to North America. In January 1872, following deliberation 
with Jansen and minister Dietrich Gaeddert, Leonhard Sudermann 
sent a petition to British consul James Zohrab seeking information 
on immigration to Canada. Sudermann raised the question of send-
ing a delegation to negotiate terms of settlement, and inquired about 
military exemption and a purchase (or grant) of land. After a con-
ference in Molotschna, a second petition was sent to Zohrab echoing 
the requests of the earlier petition.24 A letter, referencing the pend-
ing petition to Zohrab, was also sent to American consul Timothy 
Smith with the same requests.25 Jansen had already held cursory 
talks with Smith the previous year when the compulsory service law 
was first published.26 

Despite these overtures to Britain and the United States, Men-
nonites had not abandoned hope of a negotiated solution in the Rus-
sian Empire. While awaiting responses from Britain and the United 
States, a deputation from Molotschna travelled to St. Petersburg in 
February 1872. This deputation was told the only option was to ap-
peal to the Imperial Council in the fall. In March, Theodor Hans 
communicated to Mennonites the recommendation made by the 
Commission on Terms of Service, which was to allow Mennonites to 
serve in in hospitals and workshops away from the front lines, with 
an exemption from carrying weapons. Hans noted these terms were 
more generous than those afforded to Mennonites in the German 
Empire. Further petitions and deputations seeking additional com-
promises from the tsar and Russian authorities continued to be sent 
throughout 1872 (and into 1873).27 Thus, by early 1872, Russian 
Mennonites were exploring three options simultaneously: remain in 
Russia, emigrate to Canada, or emigrate to the United States. 

Consul Zohrab sent the two petitions he received to British for-
eign secretary Earl Granville, along with a covering letter. Noting 
the Mennonites’ proficiency in agriculture and overall industrious-
ness, Zohrab wrote that their departure would “be a serious loss” to 
Russia. Further, Zohrab had “no hesitation . . . in saying that these 
Germans would prove a valuable acquisition to any country they 
may select for their future home.” He stated that “their first choice 
falls on British soil” and they would “do so with regret if they have 
to leave for any country other than Canada,” but, if necessary, “they 
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will seek refuge in the United States to which their attention has 
been already directed.”28 

The petition to American consul Smith reached diplomat Eugene 
Schuyler who replied in the absence of Secretary of State Hamilton 
Fish. Echoing Zohrab, Schuyler noted to his superiors that the Men-
nonites were “good agriculturalists” who had “great success on 
steppes that were formerly perfectly bare” and described the Men-
nonites as “intelligent, industrious and persevering, and very clean, 
orderly, moral, temperate and economical.” He concluded by stat-
ing, “I do not think it would be possible to find in Europe any better 
emigrant than these Mennonites, and should the whole colony go to 
the United States they would rapidly develop into good and useful 
citizens.”29 

Schulyer’s response was condensed by Smith before being sent 
to the Mennonites. Smith simply wrote: “Compulsory Military Ser-
vice does not exist in the U.S.” He advised that American homestead 
laws granted 165 acres of land to every settler who declared his in-
tention of becoming a citizen and additional land could be purchased 
from the government or railway companies. With respect to sending 
a deputation, Smith wrote that “it would do no harm and might be 
productive of great advantage to send a small deputation to America 
to see what could be done and to select a site for colony.”30 

The Canadian response, in the form of a Privy Council report 
dated April 26, 1872, gave assurances that the Militia Act exempted 
any Mennonite “from Military Service when balloted in time of 
peace or war, upon such conditions and such regulations as the Gov-
ernor-in-Council may, from time to time, prescribe.” Pursuant to the 
Dominion Lands Act, the report advised that there would be a free 
grant of 160 acres of land in Manitoba for anyone at least twenty-
one years of age on the condition of settlement, and free grants or 
easy purchases of land were available in other provinces. Further, 
the report offered that “settlers may obtain contiguous lots of land, 
so as to enable them to form their own communities.” This was be-
cause the Dominion Lands Act allowed the secretary of state to set 
aside or reserve land. However, the report stated that it was not gov-
ernment policy “to grant aid to any settlers in Canada.” The report 
also invited, at Canada’s expense, one or two persons to survey 
“lands for settlement and the terms on which they could obtain 
them.”31 

Of foremost importance to the Mennonites was the military ex-
emption. In this connection, neither the American nor Canadian re-
sponses allayed the Mennonites’ concerns. American consul Smith’s 
brief response was “regarded as rather waiving the question” be-
cause “the Mennonites say that though compulsory service does not 
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exist now, it is not stated that it cannot be easily made to exist in a 
time of war.”32 Similarly, the Canadian response, quoting the Militia 
Act, prompted Jansen to write directly to the governor general to 
ask under which “conditions” and “regulations” compulsory service 
might be prescribed. Only after further assurances from another 
Privy Council report, and by Canadian immigration agent William 
Hespeler, was Jansen satisfied of the soundness of the exemption.33 

In the summer of 1872, not wishing to wait for an official delega-
tion, four Mennonite men from wealthy families undertook their 
own tour of the western United States. Three men returned to Russia 
with favourable reports. The fourth, Bernhard Warkentin, toured 
Manitoba with Ontario Swiss Mennonite farmer and businessman 
Jacob Y. Shantz, at the request of the Canadian government, before 
returning to the United States, where he remained.34 

A complicating factor was that Russian law prohibited the pro-
motion of emigration. The Americans realized this immediately, and 
perhaps this was the reasoning behind Consul Smith’s brief re-
sponse to the Mennonites’ petition, and the subsequent involvement 
of private railroad agents. As private citizens, rather than govern-
ment officials, there was no risk they would face diplomatic sanc-
tion. The British Foreign Office likewise recognized this potential 
obstacle as early as April 1872. 

Canada, though subordinate to Britain in foreign affairs, was des-
perate to attract settlers to Manitoba. Whether reckless or simply 
oblivious of Russia’s law, the Canadian government dispatched im-
migration agent William Hespeler to the Mennonite colonies in July 
1872. Correspondence reveals much tension and discord between 
Canadian agents and British diplomats. Unable to obtain a passport 
from the British embassy in Vienna, Hespeler wrote to Canada’s ag-
riculture minister, J. H. Pope complaining that “the Embassy here 
treats me with the same indifference as was my mission to further 
the interests of the Duchy of Luxemburg . . . and my private opinion 
is—the sooner we are an Independent Canada the better.”35 

After arriving at the Mennonite colonies in July, Hespeler imme-
diately “attracted the unfavourable attention of the Russian author-
ities.”36 In an August 28, 1872, dispatch, Hespeler further com-
plained about Consul Zohrab to Pope, for Zohrab had advised 
Hespeler to leave Russia to avoid arrest.37 In response, John Lowe, 
secretary of the Department of Agriculture, instructed Hespeler to 
“bear in mind” the “possibility of Mr. Zohrab acting in the interest 
of the United States” and that Hespeler was “expected to exert 
[him]self to the utmost to secure to Canada the [Mennonite] emigra-
tion.”38 Lowe and Pope’s suspicions were sorely misplaced. Consul 
Zohrab had been one of the earliest and most enthusiastic 
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supporters of attracting Mennonites to Canada. The only basis for 
this outlandish allegation was that overtures were being made to at-
tract Mennonites to the United States—which had originated from 
the Mennonites themselves. Thus, the Mennonites’ strategy of sim-
ultaneously engaging both Canada and the United States was, by 
September 1872, already paying dividends. 

In reality, Consul Zohrab’s cool response to Hespeler was a result 
of previous orders from his superiors in the Foreign Office. On con-
secutive days in August, Zohrab had sent two dispatches to Foreign 
Secretary Granville. Zohrab spoke positively of Hespeler’s efforts, 
reporting that Hespeler “had been very well received in the Colo-
nies.” Zohrab also suggested that he be appointed in charge of man-
aging and directing the Mennonite emigration. As such, Zohrab felt 
it “advisable for [him] to proceed to Canada as soon as possible” and 
opined that a “very extensive . . . general departure” of Mennonites 
was “more probable.”39 

It was only once Zohrab’s views reached his superiors that re-
straint was advised. On August 18, 1872, Lord Loftus, British am-
bassador to Russia, wrote a lengthy correspondence to Granville 
which included Zohrab’s dispatches. Unlike Zohrab, Loftus was du-
bious that the Mennonites would emigrate en masse to Canada. Ow-
ing to “private information,” Loftus was “inclined to believe” that 
the Russian government would “grant such a relaxation of the future 
Military law of service” that would satisfy the Mennonites’ religious 
views, “and that consequently their intended emigration will be 
abandoned.” Loftus also observed that 

the leaders of the German Mennonites are on the one hand endeavouring 
to exercise a pressure on the Imperial [Russian] Government by a threat 
of Emigration in order to obtain the fulfilment of their wishes whilst, on 
the other hand, they are simultaneously in communication with the Gov-
ernments of Canada and of the United States with a view in case of fail-
ure with the Imperial Government to secure the best conditions for their 
future emigration.40 

Under these circumstances, Loftus believed that the Canadian 
government and Consul Zohrab should “maintain an entirely pas-
sive attitude” until the Mennonites announced their intention to em-
igrate and received permission to do so from the Russian govern-
ment. Having already informed the Mennonites of the terms of Ca-
nadian emigration, Consul Zohrab was to “abstain from making any 
further advances” to the Mennonites, for “they appear to have a 
keen eye for their own interests, and should they finally decide on 
emigration (which I very much doubt) [they] will be governed in the 
selection of their future home by the advantages which may be 
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offered to them.”41 Thus, British diplomatic concerns, which de-
manded restraint and passivity for fear of Russian sanction, were 
directly at odds with Canada’s aim of attracting settlers in the face 
of American competition.42 

Furthermore, officials in the Colonial Office wanted Canada to 
be able to raise its own militia and defend itself from the prevailing 
threat of invasion from the United States. In this connection, Under-
secretary of State for the Colonies Robert Herbert was “not uncon-
cerned” over the Mennonites’ repeated inquiries over Canada’s mil-
itary exemption. Herbert doubted the wisdom in settling “men who 
refuse to defend themselves” in Manitoba, “where there is every 
prospect of fighting.”43 Thus, the Canadian immigration policy of 
wooing Mennonites from Russia to settle in Manitoba ran contrary 
to both British foreign and colonial policy. 

Whatever his sources, Loftus’s private information proved relia-
ble. On October 23, 1872 (OS), less than three months after Loftus’s 
dispatch, the Commission on Terms of Service considered a report 
drafted by Governor General Kotzebue. Kotzebue noted Mennonites 
had offers to settle in North America, but discreet communications 
hinted Mennonites were amenable to a compromise with Russia and 
would consider non-combatant, administrative roles such as work-
ing in hospitals or prisons if it meant not having to emigrate.44 Ap-
parently, Mennonites in Russia were engaging in subtle negotiations 
of their own. Kotzebue asserted: 

Valuing their present homeland, the Mennonites would like, having 
dropped any thought of moving to America in spite of offers received, to 
submit to the demands of the government in the introduction of general 
military service as long as the demands do not exceed the bounds of their 
religious convictions. They are afraid from their side to present any kind 
of written statement on this matter, fearing that in the eyes of posterity 
it would assume the form of a document witnessing to their voluntary 
recognition of the principle of military service. They are prepared to 
make any sacrifice in order to atone for any privileges granted by the 
state.45 

Kotzebue further recommended a twelve-year deferment be 
granted to the Mennonites to allow them to become accustomed to 
the idea of service, and, once in service, that Mennonites be concen-
trated in a small number of locations so that their spiritual needs 
could be met. Kotzebue’s recommendations were later endorsed by 
the Imperial Council.46 

In November and December, the matter between Canada and 
Britain reached a head. Lord Loftus wrote to Earl Granville stating 
his opinion that it was “imprudent” for the Canadian government to 
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have sent Hespeler to Russia to induce Mennonite emigration.47 The 
Foreign Office wrote to the Colonial Office with the following warn-
ing: 

Lord Augustus Loftus appears to think that the Canadian government 
have been going rather too far in their endeavour to induce these Men-
nonites to immigrate to Canada . . . and he seems to think that Mr. 
Hespeler is likely to get himself into trouble and Her Majesty’s govern-
ment also if he again returns to Bessarabia with the object of inducing 
these people to leave.48 

In turn, Lord Kimberley, the colonial secretary, wrote to the Cana-
dian government on December 7, 1872, warning that “to avoid com-
plications with Russia, Canadian Govt. should take no further steps 
with respect to Mennonite emigration till informed that matter can 
be safely proceeded with.”49 On December 10, Lowe rescinded his 
directive to Hespeler and recalled him to Canada immediately.50 

Negotiations Culminate: North American Enticements and 
Russian Compromises, 1873–74 

Mennonites continued engaging contacts in both the United 
States and Canada while still negotiating with Russia. In Minnesota, 
a letter by David Goerz of Molotschna, published January 26, 1873, 
in the Saint Paul Daily Press, asserted Mennonites were not emi-
grating for material needs but to “enjoy more liberty of conscience,” 
for which they had “received more positive assurances on this point 
from Canada than your government.” Still, Goerz gave assurances 
“that your beautiful State finds many and warm admirers among us. 
I may even be justified in stating that it would be preferred, if it 
would offer the same inducements as Canada.” Goerz’s letter had 
been forwarded to the press by Bernhard Warkentin, who privately 
observed to Goerz, “Neither does it harm to tell these gentlemen 
what proposals the English Government is making to us, perhaps the 
United States will yet compete with Canada”—though Warkentin 
knew this was unlikely because the US Congress needed to approve 
any proposal.51 The Minnesota legislature responded with a unani-
mous motion, inviting Mennonites to settle and endeavouring “to se-
cure them the largest religious and political privileges allowed.”52 

In Russia, Shantz’s account of Manitoba was widely distributed 
among Mennonites. Shantz drew attention to the promised bloc 
grants of land which would enable Mennonites to maintain their lan-
guage and customs.53 Meanwhile, Theodor Hans also passed along 
advice from Count Heyden that it would now be an opportune time 
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to petition the Imperial Council. He encouraged Mennonites to pre-
sent a united front and send a “collective petition which expresses 
the opinion of the total Mennonite Community.” This united front 
failed to materialize when Mennonites from the Bergthal colony re-
fused to sign a petition at an all-Mennonite conference in Alex-
anderwohl, instead opting to send their own. Then, on March 6, 1873 
(OS), a deputation met with the president of the Imperial Council, 
Grand Duke Nikolaevich, and rejected the prospect of serving in 
hospitals or work camps because those roles still fell under military 
administration.54 

Russia’s position was shifting from quiet confidence to increas-
ing concern. The two sides were at an impasse. For Mennonites, this 
resulted in growing support for emigration. For Russian authorities, 
it prompted a reaction. An edict issued by the Imperial Council on 
March 10 (OS), expelled Cornelius Jansen and Wilhelm Loewens 
from Russia for distributing pamphlets that promoted emigration.55 
In April, the Ministry of the Interior made an official complaint and 
Russia’s foreign minister, Prince Gorchakov, issued Lord Loftus a 
warning over Zohrab’s links to Hespeler and the efforts to induce 
emigration.56 

Hespeler remained confident of Canada’s domestic prospects 
and incognizant of Britain’s diplomatic problems. In a letter to Pope 
dated March 1, he wrote that the assurances granted by Canada 
meant that Mennonites were now “disposed to give Canada a pref-
erence over the neighbouring States.” Hespeler had “no doubt but 
what an immense emigration would flow to this Country [Canada]” 
and his Mennonite contacts advised him that “a general emigration 
is on foot.” Lowe replied that eight townships had been reserved for 
their exclusive settlement.57 In a further letter of April 26, Hespeler 
advised Pope that Mennonites expected to receive “a written Docu-
ment direct from the Government” confirming a military service ex-
emption, freedom of religion including in schools, reservation of 
townships, homestead privileges, the right to affirm affidavits in-
stead of swearing them, and financial assistance in immigration.58 
Lowe affirmed all these points in a letter dated May 3.59 

From April to August 1873, eleven delegates toured North Amer-
ica to view prospective areas of settlement and negotiate terms of 
immigration. Nine delegates represented Mennonite communities 
from West Prussia, Volhynia, Molotschna (Berdyansk and Alex-
anderwohl), the Kleine Gemeinde from Borozenko, and the Bergthal 
colony. The Hutterian Brethren also sent two delegates. The dele-
gates toured land across the United States including Texas, Kansas, 
Nebraska, Minnesota, and Dakota Territory, and the Canadian prov-
ince of Manitoba.60 
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Although seven delegates rejected the Canadian land and made 
an early return to the United States, the four Bergthal and Kleine 
Gemeinde delegates conducted a more thorough tour of Manitoba 
and proceeded to Ottawa. There, they received a letter of guarantees 
dated July 23, 1873, from John Lowe (the “Lowe Letter”). This was 
primarily a restatement of the pledges he had extended in his letter 
of May 3. A loan to help with costs of migrating was extended in 
addition to the subsidy for travel costs Canada was already provid-
ing. Satisfied Canada had met their demands and granted what they 
considered a Privilegium, these delegates returned to Russia with-
out seriously considering the United States further.61 

Tensions between Britain and Canada again erupted while the 
Mennonite delegates were touring Manitoba, when the Foreign Of-
fice learned that Hespeler had provided Russian Mennonites with 
official correspondence between the British and Canadian govern-
ments. Lord Kimberley drew attention to his instructions sent the 
previous December that Canada was to take no further steps to in-
duce Mennonite migration and demanded a “full explanation.” This 
explanation was provided by J. H. Pope who claimed, falsely, that 
only “extracts” of documents had been provided to Hespeler.62 In 
fact, Pope had provided Hespeler with full copies of Zohrab’s origi-
nal communication to the Foreign Office and translations of the 
Mennonites’ original requests, in addition to excerpts of Colonial Of-
fice letters, thereby implicating British and Canadian officials in ef-
forts to promote Mennonite emigration.63 Canada’s rash actions, un-
dertaken without proper approval from Britain, had one controver-
sial result: Order-in-Council 957, designed to give legal effect to the 
promises in the Lowe Letter, was approved and then belatedly can-
celled and marked “secret” by Lord Dufferin, the governor general, 
because of directives from the British Foreign Office.64 Neverthe-
less, diplomatic escalation was avoided, and immigration to Canada 
would ensue in 1874. 

The seven delegates who returned early to the United States pur-
sued further negotiations with American officials. On August 8, 
1873, three delegates petitioned President Ulysses S. Grant for the 
right to operate German schools in their colonies and exemptions 
from military service and jury duty. Further inquiries on their be-
half were made by Jay Cooke, financier of the Northern Pacific Rail-
road, and his associate Michael Hiller.65 Although Grant was sup-
portive, as these matters fell under state and not federal jurisdic-
tion, Grant and his Secretary of State Hamilton Fish could not ex-
tend guarantees in these matters.66 In subsequent years, Minnesota, 
Nebraska, and Kansas would pass laws granting military exemp-
tions on religious grounds.67 
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Beginning in December 1873, the US Congress considered a pro-
posal that would facilitate Mennonite bloc settlement.68 Migration 
from the Russian colonies presented a logistical challenge: their 
landholdings in Russia could only be sold to other Mennonites and 
selling at once would greatly depress their value. Consequently, 
Mennonites proposed to migrate over the course of several years, 
but, as land in the United States could not be set aside or reserved 
as in Canada, non-Mennonite settlers might claim adjacent land in 
the intervening time. Further complicating matters was that Amer-
ican railroad companies owned alternating sections of land. The 
seven delegates had negotiated a contract in which the Northern Pa-
cific Railroad Company agreed to reserve for purchase all its pri-
vately owned sections of a tract of land in the Dakota Territory. But 
the delegates also wanted to be able to purchase the adjoining gov-
ernment-owned sections so that Mennonites could live in exclusive 
and contiguous bloc settlements, akin to what they had in Russia and 
what Canada had already offered them.69 

At the urging of Grant and Secretary of the Interior Columbus 
Delano, Congress considered granting discretionary power to the 
secretary of the interior to withdraw government-owned sections 
from sale and reserve land—a power similar to that held by Delano’s 
Canadian counterpart. While a bill to this effect languished in the 
House of Representatives, the Senate seriously considered and de-
bated its “Mennonite Bill,” which allowed for the reservation of land 
for up to two years, to a maximum of 100,000 acres per contiguous 
area and 500,000 acres aggregate per declaration. Those in favour 
referred to the desirability and industriousness of the Mennonites 
and the history of various colonies that had became US states. Those 
opposed spoke of the “homogenous unity” of the country that “suc-
cessful republicanism” required.70 

 The Canadian concessions were explicitly invoked, both by Men-
nonites and their American supporters, during this debate. In a pe-
tition to both the House of Representatives and the Senate, Mennon-
ite leaders claimed, “The Canadian government has offered to pre-
sent us as much land as we would occupy, within the before-men-
tioned time, but a party of us would prefer to settle in the United 
States, if the opportunity is given us to locate in colonies.”71 Simi-
larly, while debating the Mennonite Bill, Senator Windom, a Minne-
sota Republican (and stockholder of the now-struggling Northern 
Pacific), noted the “very great advantages” offered by the Canadian 
government and read the Lowe Letter in full. He further stated: 

The Senate will have observed by the reading of this [the Lowe Letter] 
that the inducements offered by Canada are very much greater than 
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these people ask to be offered by this country. . . . They prefer our coun-
try, and unless we choose to drive away forty thousand of the very best 
farmers of Russia who are now competing with us in the markets of the 
world with some ten million bushels of their wheat, if we choose to say 
that Russia shall raise that wheat or that Canada shall provide it instead 
of our own country, we can simply reject the proffer of these people, and 
they probably will not become our citizens. I deem it of the utmost im-
portance that this bill should pass.72 

Senator Daniel D. Pratt likewise stated that “unless they are in-
duced to come here by something like this bill they will go to Can-
ada” because “the Canadian government has held out greater in-
ducements to them to emigrate there than this bill proposes.”73 

Invoking the guarantees from the Canadian government to lev-
erage American legislators was certainly an intentional negotiation 
ploy on the part of the Mennonites and Hutterites. The four dele-
gates who travelled to Ottawa never pursued serious negotiations 
with the United States, as they were preoccupied with guarantees of 
religious freedom which they correctly assumed the United States 
government would not grant.74 The seven delegates who did negoti-
ate with the United States had shown no interest in settling in Man-
itoba the year prior, but now used the Canadian inducements in an 
attempt to improve terms of American settlement.75 

In the end, the Mennonite Bill failed. Debate continued until 
April 23, 1874, when the Mennonite migration to North America had 
already begun.76 The prevailing view in the United States was best 
summarized by Senator Matthew H. Carpenter of Wisconsin: 

We do not desire to have a town or a county settled by any foreign na-
tionality, speaking their own language, having their national amuse-
ments, and in all things separate and distinct from Americans. The idea 
is and should be, and it should never be departed from, that in inviting 
foreigners to settle in this country they should take their place with our 
citizens; they should come here not to be Germans or Frenchmen or Ital-
ians, but to be Americans, to become American citizens, to speak our 
language, to support our institutions, to be of us in all things. Now cer-
tainly the greatest obstacle in the way of this result would be to give the 
different nationalities a separate and distinct location, as this bill pro-
poses to do.77 

The Canadian policy of allowing bloc settlement provides an in-
teresting counterpoint. Prime Minister John A. Macdonald laid out 
the rationale for this position in an 1881 debate about German and 
Scandinavian immigration practices: 
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Large tracts of land are selected in advance, and then they come in large 
bodies, . . . and unless they are allowed to settle together in that way they 
will not come at all. Perhaps, in the case of German or Irish or any other 
immigration, it would be better to have the different races scattered 
throughout the territory, so that by degrees they might amalgamate, and 
become, in the end, Canadians; but the first thing to do is to get them to 
come, and if they will not come readily and scatter over the country, then 
we must bring them out in communities.78 

Though both Canada and the United States desired to see their im-
migrants scatter and assimilate, pragmatism dictated the Canadian 
approach. What Canada lacked in quality of land, it compensated for 
with additional benefits in the form of bloc settlement and religious 
privileges, in order to induce settlement and consolidate territory. 

In Russia, preparations for emigration were well underway in 
late 1873 and early 1874. Yet Mennonites continued their efforts to 
obtain an exemption from Russian policy. A deputation to see the 
tsar in the fall of 1873 was again unsuccessful and resorted to leav-
ing a petition with the Ministry of Crown Lands. Other than a tem-
porary military service deferral until 1880, there had been no reso-
lution by January 1, 1874, when the Russian law came into effect.79 

To better assess the appetite for emigration among Mennonites, 
the tsar personally dispatched General Eduard von Todleben to 
their colonies in April 1874. Todleben was a hero of the Crimean 
War well known among Russia’s German colonists. In a report to the 
minister of the interior, Todleben opined that there were three 
groups of Mennonites. The first comprised those who had already 
sold their property and were influenced to emigrate either by reli-
gious “fanatics” within the Mennonite population or by foreign agi-
tators. The second and largest group were those contemplating em-
igration but hesitant to do so owing either to being more educated 
or disagreeing that the law violated their religious beliefs. This sec-
ond group was nonetheless wary of the Russian government’s re-
forms. The third group, an extreme minority, intended to stay in 
Russia for the sole purpose of buying cheap land and property from 
those departing. In confidence, Todleben stated his belief that the 
policy of Russification rather than military service was the primary 
reason for emigration.80 

To the Mennonites, Todleben made it known that he had been 
authorized to speak on behalf of the tsar. While emphasizing the dif-
ficulties North American emigrants would face and using the expe-
rience of the recent US Civil War to cast doubt that a military ex-
emption could be achieved in the United States, Todleben compro-
mised and offered alternative forms of state service outside of the 
military. The immediate prospect of mass emigration was staved off, 
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although negotiations would continue until the end of the deferment 
period in 1880. In April 1875, an exemption was granted in law al-
lowing Mennonites to provide service in the marine department, fire 
brigade, or forestry department. Forestry service quickly became 
the Mennonites’ preferred choice. In negotiating the “Todleben 
Compromise,” Mennonites and Todleben eventually came to an 
agreement whereby forestry service would be provided in exclu-
sively Mennonite units, with the majority of expenses paid by the 
Mennonite colonies.81 

Appeased by the Todleben Compromise, two-thirds of the Men-
nonite population would remain in Russia, evidently believing their 
religious convictions were sufficiently accommodated.82 A bumper 
crop in Russia in 1874 may have also swayed some undecided indi-
viduals against emigrating.83 Although not all Mennonites were per-
suaded to stay, Russia conspicuously did not issue them passports 
until after Todleben’s intervention.84 

Ultimately, 17,075 Mennonites emigrated to North America, 
most between the years 1874 and 1876. Canada attracted 6,940 Men-
nonites, consisting of residents of the Chortitza and Fürstenland col-
onies, the entire Bergthal colony, and a majority of Kleine Gemeinde 
from the Borozenko and Molotschna colonies, all of whom settled in 
Manitoba. The United States attracted 10,135 Mennonites, which in-
cluded a minority of the Kleine Gemeinde, the entire Alexanderwohl 
congregation, and others from Molotschna, Crimea, Volhynia, and 
Prussia; they settled in Kansas, Nebraska, Minnesota, and the Da-
kota Territory.85 Additionally, 1,254 Hutterites—nearly the entire 
population in Russia—emigrated to the Dakota Territory.86 

Negotiations Evaluated: The Interests of Each State and Migrant 
Group 

The lack of a satisfactory agreement between Russia and its 
Mennonite population in the early 1870s meant that community 
leaders of some fifty thousand colonists seriously explored emigra-
tion. Russian authorities did not want to lose the industrious Men-
nonites but also had to address domestic pressures and modernize 
as a state. These pressures explain why the Russian authorities did 
not immediately accede to the Mennonites’ demands. Furthermore, 
Russia’s demands were hardly outrageous in substance. Officials 
made it clear from the outset that Mennonites could serve in non-
combatant roles, which was the same opportunity afforded to Men-
nonites in Prussia.87 The concession of not needing to carry a weapon 
represented an even greater degree of accommodation but was 
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nonetheless rejected.88 The resulting breakdown in negotiations 
nearly led to a mass emigration. Evidently, Russian authorities had 
underestimated the Mennonites’ ability to skilfully negotiate with 
other countries. Only at the last minute did the tsar dispatch 
Todleben and reach a compromise acceptable to two-thirds of the 
Mennonite population. As for those who emigrated, Russia seems 
not to have been bothered with their departure. Russian authorities 
considered them to be religious “fanatics” and even their co-reli-
gionist Peter M. Friesen described them as “unmanageable, pious 
foster children whom it was impossible to satisfy.”89 

From the Russian vantage point, the Todleben Compromise must 
be seen as a success. Two-thirds of the industrious Mennonite pop-
ulation remained in Russia, and the loss to Russia’s military was 
more than compensated for. As Lawrence Klippenstein has ob-
served, forestry service on the southern steppes had a higher mar-
ginal benefit to the state than a few extra soldiers in the military.90 
When considering Russia’s need to modernize, and that the Canada-
bound emigrants were unlikely to accept any state service, there 
was no zone of possible agreement.91 Excluding the most ardent op-
ponents of reform from the calculation meant the Todleben Compro-
mise assuaged the concerns of the vast majority of Mennonite for 
whom an agreement was still possible. 

For the Mennonites who remained in Russia, these negotiations 
must also be seen as a success, even if later Russian Mennonite 
scholars, notably Peter M. Friesen, would view those who emigrated 
as implacable and unpatriotic.92 Without the threat of their emigra-
tion it is doubtful that Russia would have granted the Todleben Com-
promise. The process of creative bargaining yielded an improve-
ment to continued life in Russia. Further, the mass departure de-
pressed prices of goods and land, creating a “buyer’s market” which 
was used advantageously by those who remained to alleviate their 
landless situation.93 

The United States managed to attract 10,135 Mennonites and 
1,254 Hutterites. The United States had an advantage over Canada 
with respect to both its better quality of land and private railway 
companies. The private railway companies could act unilaterally, 
lowering the risk of the United States angering Russia while financ-
ing the costs of immigration. Accordingly, the United States gained 
more settlers without taking diplomatic risks, extending public 
credit, granting special privileges, or passing further laws to allow 
for bloc settlement, Still, it should be observed that the combined 
population of Nebraska, Kansas, Minnesota and Dakota Territory 
was 941,179 in 1870 and 2,364,408 in 1880.94 Thus, while the United 
States attracted a larger absolute number of settlers than Canada, 
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those 11,389 settlers constituted less than 0.5 percent of the aggre-
gate population of those jurisdictions, which explains the relatively 
more relaxed, laissez-faire approach of the United States compared 
to Canada. 

The Mennonites who settled in the United States might be de-
scribed as more economically oriented, in that they and their dele-
gates prioritized the favourable settlement locations in the United 
States over the robust legal promises from Canada. They obtained 
preferable land in a more temperate climate with greater access to 
markets, while conceding bloc settlement and more explicit guaran-
tees of religious freedoms. Yet these Mennonites did obtain full ex-
emption from military service, albeit from state legislatures rather 
than federal Congress. They also had their co-religionists to look to 
for re-assurance. For it was Mennonites already in the United States 
who gave Cornelius Jansen the idea of emigrating from Russia. 
Their presence was evidence that Mennonites did not need a Privi-
legium to live in the United States peacefully and without aggrieving 
their religious principles.95 

Concerns over the absence of guaranteed bloc settlement may 
have been allayed by the wide availability of homestead land. As Al-
vin Esau notes, 

the aggressive competition between railway companies to settle railway 
owned land and the availability of contiguous plots of homestead land 
with that railway land created various ethnic enclaves without govern-
ment accommodation, in any event. Many Russian Mennonites settled in 
Kansas and Nebraska, where various townships eventually evolved into 
what might be called exclusivist Mennonite settlements.96 

Therefore, a more charitable analysis of the choice to settle in the 
United States would be that ethnic enclaves were formed de facto if 
not de jure, which, when coupled with preferable land, outweighed 
the need for legal guarantees of reserved land.  

Britain alone seems to have understood the back-and-forth the 
Mennonites were undertaking with the Russian government. Hind-
sight has proven Lord Loftus’s diplomacy to be skilful, perceptive, 
and remarkably prescient. His dispatch of August 1872 predicted 
almost exactly what unfolded two years later. The “private infor-
mation” he had obtained was correct. Russia did relax the military 
service laws and grant a compromise. Loftus’s doubts that the emi-
gration would not occur at all were justified. Although emigration 
did occur, it was far from the “general” emigration predicted by 
Zohrab and Hespeler. This migration was, as Loftus had predicted, 
“governed . . . by the advantages . . . offered to them.”97 
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For Britain, large-scale Mennonite immigration to Canada ap-
peared unlikely in any competition with the United States. British 
officials were correct insomuch as Canada was forced to offer far 
greater inducements to obtain a smaller share of the immigrants. 
Meanwhile, there was a real risk of the British Empire harming its 
diplomatic relations with Russia, particularly after the expulsion of 
Cornelius Jansen and Wilhelm Loewens. From Britain’s perspec-
tive, the risk-reward analysis did not justify British or Canadian of-
ficials becoming involved in the negotiations for Mennonite mi-
grants. Britain’s passive approach was therefore justified even if it 
was to the detriment of its Dominion. In the end, Britain was nar-
rowly successful in avoiding serious diplomatic escalations with 
Russia.98 

In contrast to its mother country and its neighbour to the south, 
Canada had the most to gain or lose from the ordeal. The United 
States was expansionist and had a much larger population base 
while Canada was on the defensive and in dire need of consolidating 
its new territories in Manitoba and the North-West. At the time, Can-
ada had almost no established Euro-settler population in its North-
West. Yet the Dominion had a weak negotiating position. Its land 
was less desirable than that of either Russia or the United States, it 
had no private railway companies, and its efforts were hampered by 
a passive and cumbersome imperial bureaucracy. This explains the 
aggressive approach taken by government officials Pope, Lowe, and 
Hespeler that ultimately led to the latter’s recall from Russia. 

But while Britain’s fears of Russian sanction were not un-
founded, neither were Canada’s anxieties over American competi-
tion. In early 1874, Michael Hiller, agent of the Northern Pacific, 
visited Mennonites in Russia and cast doubt on Canada’s promises. 
Though Canadian officials responded with additional pledges, a mi-
nority of Kleine Gemeinde Mennonites decided to settle in Ne-
braska.99 In 1875, Minnesota increased its share of immigrants at 
Manitoba’s expense, when one group was unwittingly diverted en 
route by a fellow Mennonite, and another twenty-eight Bergthaler 
families who had already settled in Manitoba moved south after a 
harsh first winter.100 

Kim Korven observes that “in order to facilitate the Mennonite 
migration, Canada practiced a subtlety, bordering on subterfuge, on 
the British government.” At the same time as it was aggressively 
extending inducements to attract Mennonite migrants, Canada 
claimed to Britain it had maintained “the policy of non-interfer-
ence” and had not “in anyway, instigated Russian Subjects . . . to 
emigrate.”101 Attracting an industrious settler population on the 
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frontier was more important than following instructions from the 
mother country to the letter. 

Though Canada attracted fewer immigrants, relative to its popu-
lation the 6,940 Mennonites were a windfall. Manitoba’s population 
was only 25,228 in 1871 and 62,260 in 1881.102 Thus, even assuming 
a population growth of zero, Mennonites would have constituted 11.1 
percent of the province’s population in 1881, a proportion more than 
twenty times higher than that of American Mennonite immigrants 
in their respective jurisdictions. Canada’s aggressive inducements 
made sense internally even if not to Britain. 

While the Canadian Prairies did not yet have a large European 
settler population or an extensive railway network, Canada success-
fully leveraged its ability to offer greater religious guarantees and 
bloc settlement and attracted nearly 7,000 settlers to Manitoba. In 
the absence of a transcontinental railroad or system of local govern-
ment, Korven describes this as “a remarkable accomplishment in 
Canadian settlement policy.”103 Yet Korven’s analysis, while accu-
rate, overlooks the interconnectedness of the negotiations: the lack 
of state infrastructure drove Canada to offer greater inducements to 
settlers so that it could consolidate its territory while simultaneously 
enabling Mennonites to migrate as a group. For, as Korven writes, 
the Canada-bound Mennonites 

immigrated as families and as villages, not as individuals. This meant 
they could reproduce their system of social organization when they ar-
rived. As [John H.] Warkentin notes, “[p]erhaps nowhere else in North 
America has a peasant culture from Europe been so completely re-es-
tablished.”104 

As noted, in the United States, extensive railway landholdings and a 
larger population prevented contiguous bloc settlement and made 
legislators reluctant to grant a form of colony. In Canada, it was this 
absence of infrastructure and lack of population that enabled and 
allowed the Mennonite immigrants to obtain bloc settlements, re-
gain self-government, and re-establish the society they had in Rus-
sia.105 

Further, the concessions the Mennonites extracted from Canada 
were equally remarkable. While Canadian officials initially offered 
no aid to Mennonite settlers, a year later, the Mennonites had se-
cured promises of military exemption, bloc settlement, religious 
freedoms (including in schools), and financial aid and assistance to 
immigrate. The Canadian government’s acquiescence to all the 
Mennonites’ demands was a resounding success for the latter. The 
privileges secured were “paramount” in their decision to emigrate 
to Canada rather than the United States.106 Moreover, the 
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concessions from Canada continued even after the migration began. 
In 1875–1876, the Canadian government reserved another large 
tract of land for Mennonites, continued to negotiate reduced rail 
tickets, and amended the Dominion Lands Act to allow for Mennon-
ites’ semi-communal practices.107 

Canada and its would-be settlers thus had a consensus ad idem—
a meeting of the minds—in their agreement for immediate settle-
ment. Yet, this meeting of the minds was all too temporary and, iron-
ically, driven by diametrically opposite intentions on either side. In 
Canadian migration, Mennonites sought isolation to escape the 
reach of the state, while Canada sought to extend its authority and 
assert sovereignty through Mennonite settlement. Canada was using 
an anti-modernist population to propel its modernization while Men-
nonites were utilizing a state in need of modernization as a vehicle 
from which they could contest modernity.108 In the long-term, the 
two sides were destined for conflict.109 

Accordingly, as Canadian statecraft turned to nation-building, 
Mennonites’ privileges were gradually eroded. When local govern-
ment was introduced in Manitoba in 1879, some Mennonite groups 
resented the encroachment on their self-government and refused to 
participate in elections.110 Beginning in 1898, non-Mennonites could 
purchase land on once-exclusive Mennonite land reserves. Mennon-
ite rights to operate their own schools were rescinded in 1916 with 
the imposition of compulsory English-language “National Schools” 
resulting in fines, seizure of property, and jail sentences for those 
opposed. As a direct result, 8,000 Mennonites emigrated to Mexico 
and Paraguay between 1922 and 1930.111 Though military exemp-
tions were granted for the First World War, alternative service—
unacceptable for this group of Mennonites in Russia in the 1870s—
was implemented during the Second World War.112 Thus, the Men-
nonites’ privileges in Canada were nearly completely extinguished 
within seventy years, mirroring the pattern that Russia had begun 
in the 1870s. Still, for a brief period, the immigrants secured all that 
they had hoped for in Canada. They received their Privilegium and 
transplanted their way of life from the Russian steppe to the Cana-
dian prairie and lived separate from the world. 

Conclusion 

What initially began in 1871 as a meeting between six Mennonite 
deputies and a handful of Russian officials quickly transformed into 
a complex, international affair. By 1874, negotiations had drawn in 
the highest authorities from Britain, Canada, the United States, and 
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Russia. In Britain, these negotiations alarmed ambassador Lord 
Loftus, foreign secretary Earl Granville and colonial secretary Lord 
Kimberley over the Canadian government’s overzealous offer of in-
ducements to the detriment of British interests. The Canadian gov-
ernment’s overenthusiastic efforts involved Prime Minister John A. 
Macdonald and governor general Lord Dufferin in addition to J. H. 
Pope as minister of agriculture, John Lowe as his secretary, and 
William Hespeler as their immigration agent. On the US side, Men-
nonite and Hutterite delegates petitioned President Ulysses S. Grant 
and both houses of Congress, and the Mennonite Bill stalled only 
after much debate in the Senate. Along the way, a host of others be-
came involved, including Secretary of State Hamilton Fish, and rail-
way financier Jay Cooke. In Russia, Tsar Alexander II personally 
dispatched General Todleben, and numerous other figures also be-
came involved with the negotiations, including Grand Duke Niko-
laevich, Governor General Kotzebue, and foreign minister Prince 
Gorchakov. 

Mennonites simultaneously pursued negotiations with all three 
states and this yielded benefits for those who migrated and those 
who remained. Canada would not have pursued the Mennonites so 
vigorously—notably with Hespeler—in the absence of competition 
from the United States. As for the United States, Canadian induce-
ments factored explicitly in the debates in Congress. For its part, 
Russia did not reach a satisfactory agreement until faced with con-
crete Mennonite plans to emigrate to North America. For the Men-
nonites as a whole, the migration could be described as keeping in 
stride with the goals and values they had established at the outset. 
Of foremost concern was military exemption, followed by contigu-
ous bloc settlement and ethnoreligious considerations. How these 
non-material interests weighed against quantitative economic inter-
ests manifested in the choices made by each group of Mennonites. 

The most accommodating Mennonites remained in Russia, the 
least accommodating state, and accepted alternative forestry ser-
vice. In doing so, they kept their developed land, real property, and 
their established civil society. The Mennonites who immigrated to 
the United States received guarantees of military exemption from 
state legislatures while securing bloc settlement in practice, if not 
by law. In return they settled on more favourable land than the Ca-
nadian immigrants, but nonetheless had to start over on a new con-
tinent. The minority who immigrated to Canada secured what they 
thought were iron-clad promises from the Dominion government of 
military exemption, contiguous bloc settlement, and the freedom to 
run their schools, albeit at a cost of relocating to the least desirable 
land. 
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In the context of a complex, protracted negotiation involving a 
myriad of political and business figures, Mennonites showed them-
selves to be sophisticated negotiators with “a keen eye for their own 
interests.” They demonstrated an ability to engage in creative bar-
gaining and leveraged concessions from three states to their own 
benefit. In this context, it is untenable to claim they were merely 
“the quiet in the land.” Rather, in the early 1870s, these Russian 
Mennonites were the disquieted heard around the globe. 
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